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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS 

FORT SMITH DIVISION 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  ) 
      ) 
v.      ) CASE NO. 2:18-CR-20001-001 
      ) 
JAKE C. FILES    ) 
 
 

DEFENDANT’S SENTENCING MEMORANDUM 

COMES NOW the Defendant, Jake C. Files, by and through his attorney, James 

B. Pierce, Assistant Federal Public Defender, and hereby respectfully requests a 

downward variance from his advisory guideline sentencing range and submits this 

sentencing memorandum in support of this request.   

PROCEDURAL & FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 On January 29, 2018, Mr. Files appeared with his appointed counsel before the 

Honorable P.K. Holmes, III, Chief United States District Judge for the Western District of 

Arkansas, for the purpose of waiving indictment and pleading guilty to an Information.  

(Doc. 8).  The three-count Information was filed with the Court on the same date, along 

with an executed Waiver of Indictment.  (Doc. 1-2).  Mr. Files was charged in Count One 

with wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343, in Count Two with money laundering in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1957(a), and in Count Three with bank fraud in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 1344.  Mr. Files pleaded guilty to all three counts of the Information pursuant to 

a written plea agreement that was filed with the Court.  (Doc. 9).  The Court accepted Mr. 

Files’s plea, but deferred final approval of the plea agreement pending completion of the 

presentence investigation report (“PSR”).  Following the hearing, Mr. Files was released 

on a $5,000 signature bond with conditions of release.  (Doc. 10-11).   
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 The initial PSR was filed on March 29, 2018.  (Doc. 12).  On April 12, 2018, the 

parties filed their responses/objections to the PSR.  (Doc. 17-18).  The Government 

asserted that the 2-level “sophisticated means” enhancement under U.S.S.G. 

§ 2B1.1(b)(10)(C) should be applied.  (Doc. 17).  The probation officer did not believe that 

this enhancement was warranted, and no changes were made to the PSR in response to 

the Government’s objection.1  Mr. Files requested that a number of clarifications and 

additions be made to the information contained in the PSR which did not have any effect 

on the calculation of his guideline sentencing range.  (Doc. 18).  The probation officer 

incorporated these clarifications and additions into the final PSR, which was filed with the 

Court on April 27, 2018.  (Doc. 19).  Mr. Files also objected to the loss amount related to 

Count Three, and the final PSR reflected the reduced loss amount asserted by Mr. Files.  

Objection was also made to the inclusion of $18,692.27 in legal costs in the amount of 

restitution sought because only a portion of those costs involved Count Three; no 

changes were made to the final PSR in response to this objection, although the probation 

officer noted that the Government will have the burden to demonstrate the amount of 

restitution by a preponderance of the evidence at sentencing.  Sentencing is set for June 

18, 2018.  (Doc. 16). 

                                                             
1 Mr. Files agrees with the probation officer that the “sophisticated means” enhancement is not warranted, and 
would note that this enhancement applies only when the offense involves “especially complex or especially 
intricate offense conduct,” and that “[t]he relative sophistication of a scheme of fraudulent conduct is ‘viewed in 
light of the fraudulent conduct and differentiated, by assessing the intricacy or planning of the conduct, from 
similar offenses conducted by different defendants.’”  U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1(b)(10)(C) cmt. n. 9(B); United States v. Laws, 
819 F.3d 388, 393 (8th Cir. 2016) (quoting United States v. Hance, 501 F.3d 900, 909 (8th Cir. 2007)).  Mr. Files 
submits that his conduct in committing the offense of money laundering was not especially complex or especially 
intricate when compared to a garden-variety version of that offense.  “The question is not whether the offense is 
generally considered a sophisticated one—for instance, securities fraud as compared to simple assault.  Rather, the 
question is whether the particular offense conduct was more than usually sophisticated when compared to the 
offense in its basic form.”  Laws, 819 F.3d at 393. 
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 Mr. Files was an Arkansas State Senator who also owned and operated FFH 

Construction, an Arkansas limited liability company involved in real estate development 

and construction in the Fort Smith, Arkansas area.  According to the facts admitted by Mr. 

Files in the plea agreement, he and an associate approached City of Fort Smith leaders 

and proposed a project called the River Valley Sports Complex (“RVSC”), which 

contemplated the development of softball fields on land donated to the City of Fort Smith 

by the Chaffee Redevelopment District.  After the project suffered delays, Mr. Files asked 

the Administrator of the City of Fort Smith if he would be interested in securing a General 

Improvement Fund (“GIF”) grant from the Western Arkansas Planning and Development 

District (“WAPDD”).  The Arkansas General Assembly had appropriated GIF money in 

2015 to the Arkansas Department of Finance and Administration for disbursement to the 

WAPDD to be utilized for grants to promote economic and community development 

throughout the State of Arkansas.  The GIF consisted of what was commonly referred to 

as “surplus” state revenues from various sources as specified by the General Assembly. 

 Mr. Files assisted in the preparation of an application for the City of Fort Smith to 

receive $46,500 in GIF money which would be spent “[t]o extend infrastructure to projects 

in the Planned Districts that are City Parks and other community resources.”  Specifically, 

the funds were intended to “run utilities from the existing points to the buildings to facilitate 

city funds to be used to enhance park features rather than running utility lines.”  After Mr. 

Files sent the application in draft form to the Deputy Administrator of the City of Fort Smith, 

the Deputy Administrator reviewed, signed, and submitted the application to the WAPDD.  

On December 2, 2016, a Project Manager at the WAPDD sent an email to the 

Administrator and Deputy Administrator of the City of Fort Smith and to Mr. Files with a 
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copy of the signed grant and noted that “3 written quotes” for the project would be needed 

before the money could be released. 

 On December 29, 2016, for the purpose of securing the release of the grant money 

for the RVSC project, Mr. Files sent an email to the WAPDD Project Manager to which 

he attached three materially false and fraudulent bids which he created on his laptop 

computer without securing actual cost estimates or legitimate work descriptions from the 

three bidders.  Mr. Files sent this email while in the Western District of Arkansas, using 

an email address associated with an email server located outside the State of Arkansas; 

the email accordingly constituted an interstate wire communication.  The lowest bid was 

created in the name of “PERSON A,” an individual who had done construction work for 

FFH Construction since on or about January 2016. 

 On December 30, 2016, Mr. Files sent a text message to the spouse of PERSON 

A instructing that a bank account be opened in PERSON A’s name so the funds could be 

disbursed into said account.  PERSON A opened a savings account at Armstrong Bank 

in Fort Smith, which is a financial institution whose deposits are insured by the Federal 

Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”).  Later that same day, the City of Fort Smith wired 

$26,945.91 to PERSON A’s Armstrong Bank savings account, which funds constituted a 

portion of the $46,500 GIF money grant that was disbursed to the City.  At Mr. Files’s 

direction, PERSON A withdrew $25,931.91 of these funds as follows:  $14,000 in cash 

and $11,931.91 in a cashier’s check made payable to “FFH Construction.”  The funds 

were hand-delivered to Mr. Files at his office in Fort Smith, and he deposited the cashier’s 

check into a checking account at First National Bank in Fort Smith, an FDIC-insured 

financial institution, on which he had sole signatory authority.   
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 In September 2015, Mr. Files contracted with a masonry company in Van Buren, 

Arkansas, to work on a construction project in Altus, Arkansas.  After the masonry work 

was completed, Mr. Files owed the masonry company $55,000.00.  Because Mr. Files 

did not have the money to pay the masonry company, he offered the company’s owner a 

Skytrack forklift as a $25,000.00 payment toward the amount owed.  Mr. Files gave the 

owner a bill of sale dated March 2, 2016 for the forklift and told him that there was no lien 

on the forklift.  Although Mr. Files had previously granted First Western Bank a security 

interest in the forklift in connection with a loan made in April 2015, the bank had failed to 

properly file a Uniform Commercial Code lien against the forklift with the Arkansas 

Secretary of State.  On November 29, 2016, Mr. Files signed a Security Loan agreement 

with First Western Bank at the bank’s request in order to consolidate and refinance certain 

outstanding loans, including the April 2015 loan that collateralized the forklift.  In 

connection with the new consolidation loan, Mr. Files again purported to grant First 

Western Bank a security interest in the forklift despite the fact that he no longer owned it. 

 Mr. Files is responsible for a total loss amount of $71,672 for purposes of 

calculation of his guideline sentencing range, which, pursuant to U.S.S.G. 

§ 2B1.1(b)(1)(D), results in a 6-level increase to the base offense level of 7 called for 

under § 2B1.1(a)(1).  (PSR, ¶¶ 82-83).  Pursuant to § 2S1.1(b)(2)(A), a 1-level increase 

is applied because Mr. Files was convicted under 18 U.S.C. § 1957.  (PSR, ¶ 84).  A 2-

level increase is also applied pursuant to § 3B1.3 because Mr. Files abused a position of 

public or private trust.  (PSR, ¶ 86).  The PSR reflects an adjusted offense level of 16, 

and recommends that Mr. Files be awarded a reduction for acceptance of responsibility.  

(PSR, ¶¶ 88, 90-91).  Based on a total offense level of 13 and a criminal history category 
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of I, the PSR reflects a guideline range of between 12 and 18 months imprisonment.  

(PSR, ¶¶ 92, 130). 

ARGUMENT 

A downward variance from the advisory guideline range is warranted and would 
allow imposition of a sentence sufficient, but not greater than necessary, to satisfy 
the purposes of sentencing. 

 
Since 2005, the Guidelines have been considered advisory, and are now just one 

of several criteria a sentencing court considers when imposing a sentence. United States 

v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220, 223 (2005).  The process a sentencing court must follow since 

Booker involves three steps:  first, it must determine the appropriate advisory Guideline 

range, then examine the propriety of a traditional departure under the Guidelines, and 

finally consider the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) to determine whether to vary 

from the Guidelines.  See United States v. Garlewicz, 493 F.3d 933, 937 (8th Cir. 2007). 

While a Guideline sentence is considered presumptively reasonable on appeal, 

there is no such presumption at the district court level.  Because the Guidelines are no 

longer mandatory, the range of choice in sentencing dictated by the facts of the case has 

been significantly broadened.  See Booker, 543 U.S. at 260-61; Gall v. United States, 552 

U.S. 38, 59 (2007); United States v. Kimbrough, 552 U.S. 85, 110 (2007); Rita v. United 

States, 551 U.S. 338, 349-50 (2007).  District courts must “give respectful consideration 

to the Guidelines,” but are permitted “‘to tailor the sentence in light of other statutory 

concerns as well.’”  Kimbrough, 552 U.S. at 101 (quoting Booker, 543 U.S. at 245-46). 

The § 3553(a) factors support a sentence of probation in this case.  However, Mr. 

Files recognizes that he has been convicted of bank fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1344, 

which is a Class B felony, and is therefore ineligible for a sentence of probation pursuant 
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to 18 U.S.C. § 3561(a).  It is suggested that a very brief term of incarceration followed by 

a term of home detention for the initial period of supervised release would be an 

appropriate sentence, along with an order of restitution. 

History and Characteristics of the Defendant 

 Mr. Files is a 46-year-old married father of four with a long history of involvement 

in his church and his community.  He attended high school at Fort Smith Christian School 

(now Union Christian Academy) and graduated in 1990.  He obtained a bachelor’s degree 

in accounting from Arkansas State University in 1997.  He worked as president, coach, 

and teacher at Fort Smith Christian School from 1997 to 2005.  Prior to that, he worked 

at Baldor from 1994 to 1997, where he helped start up the Baldor facility in Ozark, 

Arkansas.  He worked as a development specialist for ERC Building Company in Fort 

Smith from 2004 to 2006 before founding FFH Construction along with two partners in 

2006.  Mr. Files has also voluntarily served on the boards of a number of community 

organizations, including the First Presbyterian/Hobson Preschool Board of Directors 

(2006-2008); the Sebastian County Educational Public Facilities Board (2001-present); 

the Sebastian County Transitional Employment Agency Board (1998-2001); the 

Community School for the Arts, Fort Smith (2016-2017); and the Fort Smith Public School 

Foundation Board (2015-present). 

 Mr. Files was elected to the Arkansas House of Representatives in 1998, and 

served as the representative for Arkansas’s 12th District from 1999 to 2003.  In 2010, he 

was elected to the Arkansas Senate, where he served from January 2011 until he 

resigned on February 9, 2018, due to his convictions in the instant case.  While a senator, 

Mr. Files served on numerous committees:  Revenue and Taxation (Chairman); 
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Transportation, Technology, and Legislative Affairs; Efficiency; Joint Budget; Legislative 

Council; and Legislative Audit.  He received the Legislative Leadership Award from the 

Arkansas State Chamber of Commerce in 2011, 2013, 2015, and 2017.  He received the 

Distinguished Legislator Award from the Arkansas Municipal League in 2011, 2013, and 

2017.  He received the State Legislator of the Year National Award from Novogradac & 

Company for strong impact in community development.   

 Mr. Files’s business had been doing well until about 2013, but experienced a 

tremendous slowdown after that time.  Mr. Files had been struggling financially since at 

least 2015.  One of his partners left FFH back in 2009, and the other remaining partner 

at the end of 2013, leaving Mr. Files as the sole operator of the business.  He still owed 

money on equipment and trucks and at times experienced difficulties paying his 

subcontractors for work performed due to a lack of cashflow.  He also had problems 

meeting his tax obligations.  These financial difficulties led to the offense conduct for 

which Mr. Files has pleaded guilty in this case. 

 Mr. Files has no prior criminal history, and has never been arrested.  He is a true 

“first-time offender.”  As will be discussed in more detail below, these characteristics 

(among others) indicate that he is very likely to live a law-abiding life from this point 

forward.  Mr. Files has been, and hopes to continue to be, a productive and contributing 

member of society and his community.  His history and characteristics should be viewed 

as mitigating factors that speak to the appropriateness of a downward variance from the 

advisory guideline range in this case. 
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Respect for the Law, Seriousness of the Offense, & Just Punishment 

The sentence imposed upon Mr. Files should promote respect for the law, reflect 

the seriousness of the offense, and provide just punishment, but it should also reflect the 

parsimony principle—i.e., it should be sufficient but not greater than necessary.  Mr. Files 

now stands convicted of three federal felonies which will forever stain what had previously 

been an unblemished record.  Mr. Files is already suffering significant consequences from 

his illegal actions.  His reputation in the community which he has served for many years 

has been ruined.  He has resigned his position in the Arkansas Senate, and his career in 

politics is over.  He has lost his home, and is otherwise in the midst of total financial ruin.  

As do all convicted felons, he has lost the right to vote and possess firearms.   

Because of his criminal conduct, Mr. Files also owes a debt to society and to his 

victims that he has been eager to repay.  Mr. Files has done everything in his ability to 

expedite the legal process.  He has refused to make his case into a public spectacle by 

waiving his right a jury trial.  He even waived indictment and pleaded guilty to an 

information, allowing the Government to avoid the time and effort associated with the 

presentation of evidence before a grand jury to secure an indictment.  He has fully and 

freely admitted to and accepted responsibility for his criminal conduct and is ready to 

make amends and move on to begin to put his life back together.  While his criminal 

actions certainly indicate a degree of disrespect for the law, his actions since the 

investigation began have been very respectful of the law and the criminal justice system. 

Mr. Files acknowledges that he has committed serious offenses that are deserving 

of punishment.  The total amount of loss, while not insignificant, is not egregious, and Mr. 

Files has accepted his responsibility to make full restitution.  His offenses were obviously 
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non-violent, and resulted in only financial harm.  A guideline term of imprisonment is not 

necessary to accomplish just punishment, especially in light of all of the other 

consequences Mr. Files is experiencing, and will continue to experience, as the result of 

his convictions.  A guideline term of imprisonment would be overly punitive, while a lesser 

term of incarceration followed by supervised release would be sufficient but not greater 

than necessary, as it would still promote respect for the law and reflect the seriousness 

of the offense.  Supervised release, especially with a home-detention condition, is still a 

significant punishment that will accomplish these and other goals of sentencing. 

Adequate Deterrence; Need to Protect the Public 

 Mr. Files is in criminal history category I, which has long been recognized (and 

empirically confirmed) by the Sentencing Commission as the category of offenders who 

are least likely to recidivate.  See U.S. Sentencing Comm’n, Recidivism Among Federal 

Offenders:  A Comprehensive Overview (Mar. 2016), p. 18 (available at 

https://www.ussc.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/research-and-publications/research-

publications/2016/recidivism_overview.pdf) (hereinafter “Recidivism Overview”).  As 

mentioned above, Mr. Files is a first-time offender with zero criminal history points, no 

prior convictions, and no prior arrests.  The available research suggests that offenders 

who share all of these characteristics with Mr. Files are even less likely to recidivate.  See 

U.S. Sentencing Comm’n, Recidivism and the “First Offender” (May 2004), pp. 16-17 

(noting the recidivism rate among this group to be only 6.8%) (available at 

https://www.ussc.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/research-and-publications/research-

publications/2004/200405_Recidivism_First_Offender.pdf).  Mr. Files’s age and 

education level also make him less likely to recidivate than a similar younger defendant, 
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and individuals who commit fraud offenses are less likely to recidivate than those who 

commit crimes falling in any other category.  See Recidivism Overview, pp. 20, 23; 

Appendix A-2, A-3.  The available data, when viewed alongside Mr. Files’s history and 

characteristics and the totality of the circumstances of the instant case, indicate that it is 

very unlikely that Mr. Files will ever commit another crime.  A guideline sentence of 

imprisonment is therefore not necessary to deter Mr. Files from committing future 

offenses or to protect the public from him.  The fact that Mr. Files has been convicted and 

is being punished in some fashion for his offenses will all but ensure that he does not re-

offend in the future.   

Education, Training, and Treatment 

 Mr. Files has never used drugs or alcohol, and therefore does not require any 

substance-abuse treatment.  Mr. Files has a bachelor’s degree and is not in need of any 

additional education or training in order to assist him to return to society as a productive 

and contributing member.  A term of incarceration within the advisory guideline range is 

therefore not necessary to accomplish these purposes of sentencing.   

Need to Avoid Unwarranted Sentence Disparities 

 Mr. Files is a first-time offender who has committed financial crimes and who has 

agreed to pay full restitution to all victims of his offense.  Other similarly situated 

defendants—even some with higher guideline ranges than Mr. Files’s 12 to 18 months—

have often been given the benefit of a “second chance” under similar circumstances, 

meaning a probationary sentence or a short term of incarceration followed by a longer 

period of supervised release.  For example, the defendant in United States v. Suarez-

Reyes, No. 8:12CR67, 2012 WL 6597814 (Dec. 18, 2012), was sentenced to one day of 
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incarceration followed by 5 years of supervised release although the Guidelines 

recommended a sentence of between 27 and 33 months imprisonment.  Although some 

health considerations were present in Suarez-Reyes that are not present in the instant 

case, that case also involved a higher guideline imprisonment range and a significantly 

higher loss amount—approximately $673,000.  Both Mr. Suarez-Reyes and Mr. Files 

were previously law-abiding citizens with no criminal history who experienced financial 

distress and who made huge mistakes in their attempts to salvage their businesses.   Both 

waived indictment and pleaded guilty to informations, and both voluntarily agreed to pay 

full restitution.  The court in Suarez-Reyes noted that “the brevity of the time served is a 

recognition of the fact that many similar offenders escape prosecution altogether, or are 

subject only to civil penalties,” and that “[a] longer term of imprisonment would disrupt the 

restitution plan more than necessary.”   2012 WL 6597814, at *7.  The court listed a 

number of other “white-collar” cases that involved similar loss amounts and resulted in 

similar sentences.  Id. at *8.  As argued above on behalf of Mr. Files, the court also noted 

that Mr. Suarez-Reyes had “already suffered serious consequences as a result of his 

crime.  He has lost his businesses, his home, and his statute in the community, and he 

will suffer the stigma of a felony on his record.”  Id. at *9. 

A sentence of imprisonment within the advisory guideline range would result in an 

unwarranted sentencing disparity between Mr. Files and other similarly situated 

individuals.  A downward variance is appropriate based on the circumstances of this case. 

Need to Provide Restitution to Victims 

 Mr. Files has committed financial crimes and has agreed to pay full restitution for 

the loss suffered by the victims.  As discussed above, Mr. Files has the present ability to 
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work and earn an income to pay this obligation and to continue to support his family.  A 

longer term of incarceration would only hamper his ability to meet these obligations.  A 

short term of incarceration followed by supervised release, on the other hand, would allow 

restitution to be made as quickly as possible. 

CONCLUSION 

As recognized in Suarez-Reyes, “a court can sentence outside the Guidelines if a 

defendant is ‘a law-abiding citizen, who [did] and incredibly dumb thing.’”  2012 WL 

6597814, at *6 (quoting United States v. Hadash, 408 F.3d 1080, 1084 (8th Cir. 2005).  

This is an appropriate characterization of the instant case.  Based on all the foregoing, 

Mr. Files requests that the Court vary downward from his advisory guideline range and 

impose a sentence consisting of a short term of incarceration followed by a term of 

supervised release with a home detention condition during the initial period, plus 

restitution.  Mr. Files submits that such a sentence would be appropriate and sufficient in 

light of the § 3553(a) sentencing factors.   

Respectfully submitted, 
 
      BRUCE D. EDDY 
      FEDERAL PUBLIC DEFENDER 
      WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS 
                                                                         
     By:   /s/ James B. Pierce                                 
      James B. Pierce     
      Assistant Federal Public Defender 
      30 S. 6th Street, Room 205 
      Fort Smith, AR  72901 
      (479) 782-1097 
 
      Counsel for Defendant 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
         
 I hereby certify that I have electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the 
Court using the CM/ECF System which will send notification of such filing to Victor R. 
Salgado and Kyra E. Jenner, Assistant United States Attorneys, and I hereby certify that 
I have provided a copy of the document via email to the following non-CM/ECF 
participants: Jake C. Files.  
 
 
      /s/ James B. Pierce                                      
      James B. Pierce 
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